

Base documents

Contents

Introduction	2
Examples of use	3
Previous requirements	3
AuraQuantic-BASE-DOC-EDITOR.exe	4
AuraQuantic-UTILITIES-office .exe	4
MS Word considerations	4
General configuration	8
Components of base documents	8
Base Document	9
Recursive paragraphs	13
Conditional Regions	15
Conditional paragraphs	16
Signature	17
Creating a document in MS Word	
Creating a document in MS Word Step 1. Choose the editor	18
Creating a document in MS Word Step 1. Choose the editor Step 2. Configure the options	
Creating a document in MS Word Step 1. Choose the editor Step 2. Configure the options Step 3. Configure the Characteristics	
Creating a document in MS Word Step 1. Choose the editor Step 2. Configure the options Step 3. Configure the Characteristics Step 4. Structure the Word base document	
Creating a document in MS Word Step 1. Choose the editor Step 2. Configure the options Step 3. Configure the Characteristics Step 4. Structure the Word base document Step 5. Configure the creator	
Creating a document in MS Word Step 1. Choose the editor Step 2. Configure the options Step 3. Configure the Characteristics Step 4. Structure the Word base document Step 5. Configure the creator Step.6 Test and improve	
Creating a document in MS Word	
Creating a document in MS Word	
Creating a document in MS Word	
Creating a document in MS Word	
Creating a document in MS Word	

Introduction

Creating many documents manually and changing the client's details (name address, specific requirements, etc.) can be quite the hassle. For this reason, the platform supports automated data assembly in documents. This gives the designers the ability to turn any business document into a "Base document" (commonly known as a template) and use it to build personalized documents automatically during any process.

The document can be filled in with content set up by the base document designer and combined with data generated during the business processes, business rules or any other data source.

Once the automatic document is generated, the file can be sent. The result is that the designers can easily build applications capable of creating documents for specific timing and users. Besides, this will boost the end user's productivity and help them to create documents in less time while maintaining accuracy and security.

This can be done in two simple steps:

1. Create the base document

First, build the base document (template) in Microsoft Word, Excel, or a rich text editor. It is possible to build dynamic content using variables, conditions, data tables, etc.

2. Generate the automatic documents

Second, automate the users document creation workflow by the click on a button to create the document needed or by setting up an automated task that is triggered whenever it is required with no human intervention.



Example of a "Base document.

Examples of use

Generally, consider the following:

- **Base document with HTML editor**. Use them to generate automatic documents with simple formats, using simple data compositions. The main advantage is that it offers an editor integrated with the platform, it is not necessary to install additional applications.
- **Base document with Microsoft Word editor**. This editor is suitable for working with documents that require a more elaborate design, that need to work with tables and present highly structured data areas. Requires Microsoft Word.
- **Base document with Microsoft Excel editor**. Use this editor when Excel calculation formulas are needed, it is also possible to operate with panel fields if necessary. Requires having Microsoft Excel.

Next, is a scenario that requires the use of base documents:

A class of processes is going to be implemented with the purpose of sending notifications to clients, regarding the procedure of hiring an insurance policy. Once the diagram of this class of process has been defined and the points where the process must collect the information are set; the next step is to design the base documents, in order to prepare the relevant documentation for each client and send it to them. Some examples of the required base document could be:

- Welcome and thank you letter.
- Current legal documentation that governs the rights and obligations of the client.
- Conditions of the hired insurance.

The documents indicated will have two main components, a base text that will always be the same regardless of the client who receives it, and another dynamic part, which will vary in a personalized way with the data necessary for each client.

The use of base documents defines these structures in a simple way starting from, for example, a Microsoft Word format file with the standard texts that will be the same for all clients, being able to later create and define a dynamic data structure by using the different design components that this functionality offers.

Previous requirements

The corresponding editor must be installed in the local computer where the functionality will be used, for example, if we need to work with a .docx format, a Microsoft Word license will be required and for docx formats. xls or .xlsx, a Microsoft Excel license will be needed. If we are working with .html formats, no additional application is required, since it is provided from the platform.

Additionally, if working with Word, the installation of the AuraQuantic-BASE-DOC-EDITOR utility and AuraQuantic-UTILITIES-Office is required. In the latter case it is also required for Excel, both are available for download from the start page in the default installation of the platform, by clicking on the **product information** icon.

				ፍ ሪ ዳ	⊡ 犖 C•		
ର	dUI d quantic	က္လို Stru •					×
	•	Cindule	i Product information				
		🕂 Adı					
	Hello,	Applic		Code version: 5.50206.7775.16804	Release date: 2019-01-16	ExtensionPack date: 2020-11-18	
		Setting					
ራ	Home	Licens	COMPLEMENTARY PRODUCTS				
٢	My tasks	Imper	These are the complementary products	compatible with this versio	n to improve productivity.		
P	Documents	Event	Name		Version	Date	
Ţ	Reports		AuraQuantic-UTILITIES-Office32bits.exe		5.10.00.0000	2021-03-09	0
	Families of records		AuraQuantic-UTILITIES-Office32bits.msi		5.10.00.0000	2021-03-09	0
_		ළ Em	AuraQuantic-UTILITIES-Office64bits.exe		5.10.00.0000	2021-03-09	0
¢	Structure		AuraQuantic-UTILITIES-Office64bits.msi		5.10.00.0000	2021-03-09	0
		Gener	AuraQuantic-COMPLEMENT.exe		1.1.23.0	2021-03-23	0
		Portal:	AuraQuantic-COMPLEMENT-NoUpdate.ms	i	1.1.23.0	2021-03-23	0
		Pages	AuraQuantic-BASE-DOC-EDITOR.exe		5.0.2017	2021-04-06	0

AuraQuantic-BASE-DOC-EDITOR.exe

This application is needed in order to edit the base documents with Microsoft's Word document editor from the local computer.

Click on the link shown in the image above to proceed with its download, the file will be stored in the local computer prior execution. To complete the installation, follow the instructions that will appear on the screen.

AuraQuantic-BASE-DOC-EDITOR is compatible with the SAML authentication system, which allows integrating a single log in .

AuraQuantic-UTILITIES-office .exe

This utility installs a plug-in for Microsoft's Word and Excel applications. and enables the use and management of guaranteed and certified signatures in Word, this functionality is only available in Word.

MS Word considerations

Once the Base Doc Editor has been downloaded and installed before we can start creating base documents there are certain settings in Word that must be reviewed. These are explained below.

Disable protected view

In modern versions of Word, there is a security setting called "Protected View" with several options that are enabled by default. To be able to use the Base Doc Editor these options must be disabled. To do so, open Microsoft Word and select **Options** in the left-hand panel:

	Word	Beth Duffield 🗊 🕲 🖲 ? — 💷 🗙
Word	Good morning	
€ C	Blank document Welcome to Word Single spaced (blank)	Image: state
New		
	₽ Search	More templates \rightarrow
	Recent Pinned Shared with Me	
Open	Base Doc Editor installer OneDrive - GRUPO AURAPORTAL > AURAPORTAL > _Documentation > _NEON > Programs >	Date modified 3m ago
	Knowledge Base - English Neon Document Template - Spanish Word OneDrive - GRUPO AURAPORTAL » AURAPORTAL » _Documentation » _NEON » Plantillas	1h ago
	Base Doc Editor OneDrive - GRUPO AURAPORTAL » AURAPORTAL » _Documentation » _NEON » Programs »	2h ago
	Plantilla de ejercicios en español de Neon Downloads	Yesterday at 16:28
Account	Plantilla de ejercicios en español de Neon C: = Users = beth.duffield = AuraPortal-App = Files = 89a58e1c-a785-42e3-bf27-d367bef6387f	Yesterday at 16:26
Feedback	2.00 Instructions for the AuraPortal Consultant course Downloads	Vesterday at 14:39
Options	2.00 Instrucciones del curso de Consultor de AuraPortal	Verberders at 14:32

The "Word Options" window will open:

Vord Options		? ×
General	Help keep your documents safe and your computer secure and healthy.	
Display		
Proofing	Security & more	
Save	Visit Office.com to learn more about protecting your privacy and security.	
Language	Microsoft Trustworthy Computing	
Ease of Access	Microsoft Word Trust Center	
Advanced	The Tout Contraction could be address of the contract Theory with any help have	
Customize Ribbon	computer secure. We recommend that you do not change these settings.	Trust Center Settings
Quick Access Toolbar		
Add-ins		
Trust Center		
		OK Cancel

A Trust Center B Trust Center Settings

First select **Trust Center** in the left-hand button panel and then click on **Trust Center Settings**. The following window will appear:

Trust Center	?)
Trusted Publishers	Protected View	
Trusted Locations Trusted Documents Trusted Add-in Catalogs Add-ins ActiveX Settings	Protected View opens potentially dangerous files, without any security prompts, in a restricted mode to help minimize harm to your computer. By disabling Protected View you could be exposing your computer to possibl security threats. Enable Protected View for files originating from the Internet Enable Protected View for files located in potentially unsafe Jocations © Enable Protected View for gutlook attachments ©	e
Macro Settings		
Protected View		
Message Bar		
File Block Settings		
Privacy Options		

Trust Center window A Protected View

Select **Protected View** in the left-hand panel and in the panel that appears on the right, unselect the three security options, highlighted in yellow in the image. Click **OK** and the Protected View will now be disabled.

Manage Add-ins

The next step is to check that the "AuraPortal Neon Document Base Editor" add-in is available and enabled in Word. To do so, we go to the **Add-ins** menu in the "Word Options" window:



A Add-ins B Manage

In this window, we need to check the configuration of the two following options from the "Manage" drop-down menu:

- COM Add-ins
- Disabled Items

COM Add-ins

First make sure that "COM Add-ins" is selected in the "Manage" option and click **Go**. The following window will appear:

COM Add-ins		?	\times
A <u>d</u> d-ins availab	le:	0	ОК
✓ AuraQuant	c Base Doc Editor	Ca	ancel
		A	dd
		<u>R</u> e	move
Location: Load Behavior:	C:\Program Files (x86)\AuraQuantic\AuraQuantic Base Document Editor 20200824\Au Load at Startup	raPorta	al.Neo

Manage COM Add-ins window.

If not selected, select the **AuraQuantic Base Doc Editor** add-in and click on **OK**. The add-in will now be available.

Disabled Items

Now we need to check that the add-in is enabled. To do so, select **Disabled Items** in the "Manage" option:

M <u>a</u> nage:	COM Add-ins 🔻	<u>G</u> o
	COM Add-ins	
	Actions	OK Cancel
	Word Add-ins	
	Templates	
	XML Schemas	
	XML Expansion Packs	
	Slow And Disabled Add-ins	
	Disabled Items	

Click on **Go** and the following window will open:

The items listed below are disabled because they prevented Word from functioning correctly, or your system administrator has disabled them throu Group Policy. Please note that you may have to restart Word for these changes to take pl Select the ones you wish to re-enable. Addin: AuraQuantic Base Doc Editor (auraquantic.basedoceditoraddinword.	gh ace.
Select the ones you wish to re-enable. Addin: AuraQuantic Base Doc Editor (auraquantic.basedoceditoraddinword.	
	v ^
	~

Manage Disabled Items window.

If the "AuraQuantic Base Doc Editor" add-in appears in the list, select it and click Enable.

Once we have checked and updated these settings, we will be able to create base documents in Microsoft Word.

General configuration

The most powerful functionality to design a base document is offered by the BASE-DOC-EDITOR tool, prepared for use with Microsoft Word, however it is possible to prepare simple documents using the HTML editor, and take advantage of the calculation power of Microsoft Excel when necessary, using this program as the editor of the base document along with panel fields. Next, we will see from where to access the configuration options to design the base documents. This must be from the class of processes where the designed documents will be used.

Class of processes: Example Entrance / Structure / Processes / Example process	e process	
SAVE SAVE AND EXIT MODE VERSIONS	REGENERATE CACHE SHIELDED	=
Name Example process Key ID Version Reference 9 1 -9.1 Description	Model author Sarah Taylor (2. Manager) × Class administrator Image: Image	2 2 2
MODEL	EXECUTION	
 Diagram Version control Simulation 	Mode Development environment Maximum number of loop recurrences 1000	
 Objects Base documents Panel 	Secure room _Open × Execution priority 0.00 the larger the number,	۵
Comment logsGeneric forms	the higher the priority	

Main window of configuration for a class of processes. Featured in red is the option that allows to access the different design components for the creation of base documents.

Components of base documents

In the image below we can see that besides creating the base document, there are other options that can be configured and included in it.



A Base documents B Recursive paragraphs C Conditional regions D Conditional paragraphs E Signature

In the following sections the different design components to create the structure of the base document are explained:

Base Document

From this option we can select the type of document to use and the configuration to apply.

Formats

To define the output format of the base document, we must click on **Create document** from the "Base document" window, the initial configuration window will open displaying three options to select for the base document editor:

Þ		
Base Doc	name	
O HTM	MS Word O MS Excel	ontinue

- **HTML**. Allows the creation of documents that can be formatted with HTML language, this editor is recommended for simple documents which do not require the more advanced functionalities offered by the MS word editor.
- **MS Word**. This editor allows the application of all the possibilities that Word offers, being able to prepare very complete documents. (It is possible to change Word documents to **PDF**)
- **MS Excel.** With this editor we can perform the creation of documents based on Excel, benefiting of all its calculation power.

Each editor configuration will be explained in its corresponding sections in this document.

After selecting the editor and clicking on **Continue**, the window will expand displaying all its configuration options:

SAVE DELETE DOWNLOAD COMPLEMENT				
Base Doc name Client Invoices		Format MS Word ((.doc)	
Automatic Doc name Client Invoices		Add Object_Ref	ference •	
Description Shows a list of clien invoices		Last action:	Sarah Taylor (2021-04-22 14:33)	
Edit with "Base Doc editor"	Ø	Automatic document destination	🖉 Digital signature	
MANUAL EDITING	Ø	Number format	🖉 Language	

Base document window with its configuration options.

Many of these options are common for all three types of base document editors.

¢	SAVE DELETE DOWNLOAD COMPLEMENT		
A —	Base Doc name demo	Format MS Word (.doc)	- D
в —	Automatic Doc name	Add	— F

First section of the configuration options of base document setting's window. "Last action" is an informative field, common to all options (HTML, Word, and Excel), which indicates who and when last modified the base document.

- A. **Base Doc name**. Name that identifies the base document in the platform.
- B. **Automatic Doc Name**. Name that is assigned to the automatic document after being generated, that is, the name of the resulting file. it may or may not coincide with the name of the base document.
- C. **Description**. This field allows the introduction of an optional description for the base document.
- D. **Format**. Option to define the output format of the document that is generated automatically. The options in this case are Word (.doc and .docx), and PDF.
- E. **Add**. Allows adding more information regarding the process to the name of the automatic document, these are:
 - **Object_reference**. Add the identifier of the system task (TS) or the action button in a personal task (TP), that will generate the automatic document.
 - **Base reference**. Add the base reference of the process in which the document is generated.

- **Extended reference**. Adds the extended reference (reference plus themes) of the process in which the base document is generated.
- **Themes**. Add the topics that have been defined in the class of process and that have a value in the process where the base document is generated.

The second part of the configuration window includes the following options:

A —	— 🖉 Edit with "Base Doc editor"	D —	 0	Automatic document destination	G	0	Digital signature
в —	MANUAL EDITING	E —	 Ø	Number format	н		Language
c —	Anual integration	F —	 0	Date formats	1 -	0	URL

- A. Edit with "Base Doc editor". Selecting this option will download the base document to be opened with the Microsoft Word desktop application for editing, all the while keeping it linked to the platform. To edit properly, it is necessary to have previously installed Base Doc Editor.
- B. **Manual download**. Option to download the base document, but not maintaining the same link with the platform, requiring the document to be manually integrated later.
- C. **Manual integration**. This option is to upload a document after its edition, in order to update the current base document.
- D. **Automatic document destination.** This is where the location of the generated file is configured, that is, the destination library where the automatic document will be integrated and /or associated to. More detail about this function is explained at the end of this section.
- E. **Number format**. Option necessary to define in which format the numbers are to be presented, affects the thousands separator (comma or point) and decimals.
- F. **Date format**. It allows to select any of the predefined date formats, in which the automatic document will show the date-type fields, both for general fields (independent), and for those found within groups of fields (in recursive paragraphs).
- G. **Digital signature**. Allows adjusting a series of configuration parameters that are applied to the digital signature image, this data is obtained from the employee record.
 - **Image size.** The original size is set by default, but a percentage can be defined regarding the size of the image that will show in the document.
 - **Signature footer** Allows activating or deactivating the footer with the full name of the user who signs, and the date and time of the signing.
 - **Signature footer font.** Indicates the size of the signature footer font.
- H. **Language**. Field to customize the language in which the options for the simple selection and multiple selection fields will be resolved, as well as the date and yes/no fields. More detail about this function is explained at the end of this section.
- I. **URL**. Provides the URL to access the base document file.

The next section of the document explains option (**D**) "Automatic document destination" and option (**H**) "Language" in the base document's configuration window.

Automatic document destination

As mentioned previously, the window that opens when clicking on **Automatic document destination** is to configure where the document will be stored:

	•	×
	Destination	0
	G SAVE SAVE AND EXIT	
	PANEL	
A –	Panel field ✓ Integrated into process Documents ×	
в —	Overwrite No () Yes	
c –	Automatic labels 🖉	
D -	Associated to process	
E —	Panel field Biblioteca 1 × O	
F -	Container enabled No ○ Yes	
G –	Overwrite ● No ○ Yes	

Apart from a general library type term, it is possible to select a library field included in a group of fields or even an affiliated group of fields. The destination of the document will determine both its number and its content.

- A. **Integrated into process**. This option when marked, allows a library to be selected as the destination of the automatic document. By clicking on the **Panel field** selector, the available library field options appear in a window.
- B. **Overwrite.** (For documents integrated into the processes) With the option "Yes" checked, every time the automatic document is generated and integrated into the library, the document that exists in it with the same name will be overwritten. The option "No" causes different versions of the document to be created. it is marked as "Yes" by default.
- C. **Automatic labels.** This option allows the mapping of labels with panel fields. The labels will be completed automatically with the value of these panel fields in execution. Since this is an automatic integration, only the labels marked as "Automatic" from the library configuration will be available.
- D. **Associated to process.** Allows documents to be automatically associated in the processes, creating a link to the location of the integration.
- E. **Panel field**. From this selector we will indicate the destination field for the automatic association of the generated document.
- F. **Container enabled.** When the destination of the automatic document is a library term in a group of fields, it is possible to define a specific container that for this group of fields in its configuration. This option is only valid with a group of fields.
- G. **Overwrite**. (For documents associated to the processes) By selecting **Yes** in this option, each time an automatic document is generated, it will overwrite the previous version of the same document. The option "No" will enable the creation of new versions of the same document.

Note: A panel field in a group of fields cannot be selected as destination for "Integrated into process" and "Associated to process" simultaneously. One or the other must be selected.

Language

In the "Language" window we can either input the language manually (defining it as fixed), or dynamically by selecting a panel field.

	C AI/E	
3- SAAF HIAD FYIL	JAAF	
LANGUAGE		
Manual	English - United States	•
0.0		

Language selection window, in which we can define manually a fixed language or a dynamic language, by selecting a panel field.

If we choose dynamic input of the language by selecting a panel field, a window will open listing the simple selection fields available in the panel. By clicking on the viewer icon beside each field, we can select a language from amongst the available, to be applied to the selector.



Window to select "Simple selection" fields from the panel, which will enable the dynamic definition of the language applied in the base document.

According to the data that is managed in the class of processes and what is needed in the base document, we will configure the characteristics or design components, in order to include and structure them properly in the document. In addition to the base document itself, there can be the components listed in the sections that follow.

Recursive paragraphs

Recursive paragraphs are used to lay out in a document the content of all the lines of a group of fields or container, by the definition and use of a specific structure in the document. There is also the possibility of using an affiliated group of fields.

COLUMNS	;				
CREATE	GENERAL CREATE PREFIXES / !	SUFFIXES CREATE GROUP	OF FIELDS	;	
Ord	Name	Description	Term	Data type	Value
1 💌	_Register Date and Time	Date and Time of Regist	General	Date and time	×
2 💌	_Register Date	Date of Register Creation	General	Date	agont metericitis Maning meeter view hep autoante autopiete
3 🔻	Name of the client		General	One line text	- ∞ x, x' A - ∠ - ∆ - □ = □ = □ - ∆ - □ - Theread is the first interact. Hendel: Hendel: Hendel: Hendel: Hendel: Unified. Content interact. Content interact. Fri Feet 0 Respect 0 Edite: None
4 🔻	Invoice number		General	One line text	Fr Name: José Rodríguez
5 💌	Client ID number		General	One line text	Fn Invoice number: 2345# Attached files:
6 🔻	Documents English		General	Library	Análisis de rendimiento.pdf
7 🔻	Affiliated Group of fields		Group	All	Details of the invoice Daliwary reference Number of articles Brice per article
8 🔻	Name1		General	One line text	Fin 2340 200 10,000 USD 6543 103 378 USD
					7890 123 244,567 USD
					Name: Laura Espinosa
					Invoice number: 4567# Attached files:
					fichero.pdf
					Details of the invoice Delivery reference Number of articles Price per article
					34567 200 300 USD 8765 789 500 USD

Example of a group of fields inserted in a base document with the use of a recursive paragraph.

Create and define recursive paragraphs

Once this feature is selected from **Class of process > Model > Base document > Recursive paragraph**, a window will open listing the available recursive paragraphs, we can click on one to open and edit it, or create a new one, according to need. After clicking on **Create recursive paragraph** the "Selection of recursive paragraph editor" window will open.

ObjectsBase documents	Base docume	nts ×			
Panel Comment logs Generic forms	Base documents Recursive paragraphs_ Conditional regions	CREATE RECURSIVE F	paragrap Paragraph	hs	×
	Conditional paragrap	Name	Descript		× Editor
	Signature	Párrafo recursivo para GC	afo recursivo para GC Para edit	Selection of recursive paragraph editor	HTML
	.,	Párrafo recursivo para MS	-	(<u>}</u> _	MS Won
	_	Group of fields example	-	Name	MS Won
		Recursive paragraph for w	-		MS Won
		Parent Group of fields_inv	-	Description	MS Won
		Recursive paragraph for H	-		HTML
				HTML O MS Word Proceed	

"Recursive paragraph" window to select or "Create recursive paragraph", introduce the name value, optional description and select the editor.

The configuration window of "Recursive	paragraphs" will op	en when we click on t	he Proceed button:
--	---------------------	-----------------------	---------------------------

25	SAVE		
	Name Group of fields example	Description	
	Group of fields	Container enabled	
	Base document × Q	🔿 No 💿 Yes	

The group of fields must be indicated, as well as the applicable container (when needed).

Steps to follow for its use in a document

The steps to follow for the creation and definition of a recursive paragraph in the design of a base document are as follows:

- 1. Create the recursive paragraph from the configuration window in the class of processes.
- 2. Configure the group of fields / container to apply in the recursive paragraph.
- 3. Open the base document and add the desired recursive paragraph.
- 4. Select the fields the group of fields that will appear in the document and form the recursive paragraph.
- 5. Position the fields in their corresponding place in the document.

Recursive paragraphs with an affiliated groups of fields

It is possible to create "Affiliated groups of fields" from within a "Parent" group of fields, with a maximum level of affiliation; that is, "Parent" groups of fields can have many affiliates, but an affiliated group of fields cannot have more affiliates.

Creating a recursive paragraph containing an affiliated group of fields is similar to a recursive paragraph, the difference relies in that if the group of fields added to the recursive paragraph contains affiliated groups, the latter will also show in the document.

An example would be a "Parent" group of fields that contains a list of *invoices*, and an affiliated group of fields that contains the related delivery notes.

In execution after the automatic document is created, we will see one line of the "Parent" group of fields; *Invoices*, and all the related lines of the affiliated group of fields; *Delivery notes*.

Conditional Regions

A conditional region permits the selection of a certain part of a base document, where we will add conditions. This conditioned selection will only show in the automatic document, if the previously established conditions are met, in accordance with the previously defined structure in the base document.

Creating and defining conditional regions

In the image below, we see an example in the configuration of a conditional region that will appear in the automatic document, if the conditions are met, the clients whose purchase value is above 20.000 will be visible. The rest will not show.

To define this component, click on **Create conditional region** and complete the fields and options presented in the "Conditional region" window:

SAVE AND	EXIT SAVE DELETE	
Number		
3		
Name		
Customers	purchases over 20,000	
Description		
Shows only	/ customers who make purchases greater than 20,000	
	A	

Settings window of a conditional region. Once the conditional region is created and saved, the access to the configuration of the specific conditions is enabled from the "Conditions" button.

Conditional paragraphs

Conditional paragraphs allow conditions to be defined in lines of recursive paragraphs, or in portions of a paragraph in a base document, these selections will show if the conditions established in them are met once the automatic document is generated, in accordance with a previously defined structure in the base document.

Creating and defining a conditional paragraph

In the image below we can see the definition of a conditional paragraph that will display the *clients with level 2 security* in the automatically generated document, if the established conditions are met, the rest will not show.

To define this component, click on **Create conditional paragraph** and complete the fields and options presented in the "Conditional paragraph" window.

⇐ CR	EATE CONDITIONAL PARAGRAPH	
쁆	Conditional paragraphs Create CONDITIONAL PARAGRAPH CONDITIONAL P	0
¢ 5/	WE AND EXIT SAVE DELETE	
Nu	mber	
3		
Na	me	
Cli	ents with level 2 security	
De	scription	
Or	ly show to clients with level 2 security.	
60	aditions of	
00	nonions ₆ /	

Configuration window of a conditional paragraph. Once the created conditional paragraph has been saved, access to the configuration of the specific conditions is enabled from the "Conditions" button.

When this configuration is applied to a text paragraph, the definition label of the conditional paragraph must be placed immediately before the first letter of the conditioned text with no intros in between. The effect of the condition will extend up until the next intro.

Signature

This option allows setting conditions to a "Guaranteed Signature", this is applicable to scenarios where we need different signatures according to the documents specification. The required signature field will be visible in the automatic document, only if the established conditions are met.

The signature sequence is as follows:

- 1. The first step is to generate the automatic document in Word format.
- 2. The user who is going to sign must open the document in the library.
- 3. The signature field must be positioned correctly in the document (if not already allocated in the document).
- 4. After, select the "Guaranteed signature" option from the AuraQuantic menu.
- 5. Finally, Introduce the PIN to sign (if previously configured).

The completion of step 3 depends on whether the base document includes or not the allocation of the guaranteed signature. The latter is accomplished by selecting the option, "Allocate guaranteed signature" from the AuraQuantic menu, allowing the immediate application of the signature, (If the allocation has been previously configured in the base document, step 3 will not be necessary.)

It is possible to select a panel field to store the signature confirmation in the process, this way the signature can be confirmed without opening the document.

Creating and defining the signature

In the image below we can see the creation and definition of a signature space. If the conditions that we have defined in "Conditions" are met, the guaranteed signature will be displayed.

To define this component, click on **Create signature**, and complete the fields and options in the "Signature" window. Once the automatic document has been signed, the image defined by the user as a signature will be visible in the document. The PIN that protects the application of the signature might be required in order to sign, the PIN can be located in the employee record, If there is not a PIN previously defined, it will not be required to sign.



Window for defining a signature. Once the created signature is saved, access configuration of the **conditions** button to configure specific conditions. Note the field "Signature confirmation field", which allows to save the confirmation of having applied the signature to the document.

For more information on how to generate and administrate signatures, consult the Knowledge base.

Creating a document in MS Word

After opening one of the Office applications, after installing the base document editor (AuraQuantic-BASE-DOC-EDITOR), and if necessary AuraQuantic-UTILITIES-Office, we will see that one or two options are available in the title bar, depending on previous installation.

The following functionalities are only available for the Microsoft Word editor.

How to use the options available in the Word editor

If the base document editor is installed, the following menu will be available:



In it, we find the following options:

- **Save**. Saves the base document with the latest changes applied, keeps it in edit mode.
- Save and exit. Save the base document with the latest changes applied, closing its edition.
- **Select data source**. From this option it is possible to select general fields, comment logs and rules that are in the panel of the class of processes, where the base document is been edited or designed. This option is to select the desired fields and then with the cursor locate them in their corresponding positions in the document, according to design.
- Add recursive paragraph This option is to add a "Recursive paragraph" to the base document. The recursive paragraph must have been previously created from the "Base document" tab in the main configuration window. (See more information in the corresponding section of this document).
- Add conditional paragraph. Allows defining certain lines (all or in part) of a recursive paragraph as conditional paragraphs. This way, only the lines and paragraph sections that meet the established conditions will show. (See more information in the corresponding section of this document).
- Add conditional region. Allows defining selections of the base document as conditional regions. This way, only the selections of the document that meet the established conditions will show. (See more information in the corresponding section of this document).
- Add break page. After clicking on this option, the double arrow characters ">>" will be included at the point where the cursor is located. This means that, in execution, these characters are interpreted as a page break. This is a visual aid to allow better control over the exact place in the document to place an element, regardless of changes in format due to recursive paragraphs, conditional regions, etc.
- Add blocked section. Add the braces "[{]" and "[}]" both at the beginning and at the end of a section for it to be blocked, all the content within it, will be read-only. Adding a blocked section allows protection of that particular section. All content located between its special characters will be seen in the automatic document as "non editable" and cannot be modified or deleted.

Signature management options

Next is a brief review of what this additional menu offers, after installing UTILITIES.

File	Home	Insert	Design	Layout	References	AuraQuantic	AuraQuantic
吕 Sa	ve	🖉 Allocat	te guaranteed	d signature	Connections		
Save as		🖉 Guarar	nteed signatu	re			
		🖉 Certifie	ed signature				
Document	s uploader	D	igital signatu	ire	Connections		

- **Save**. Saves the base document with the latest changes applied, keeping it in edit mode.
- **Save as**. Saves the base document with the latest changes applied, making a copy of the current document to save with a different name.
- **Allocate guaranteed signature**. It is necessary to use this option as a previous step to apply the guaranteed signature to a Word document. We must add at least one location.
- **Guaranteed signature**. Performs the action of signing the Microsoft Word document with a guaranteed signature. After clicking on it, all the locations pending signature will show.
- **Certified signature**. Performs the action of signing the Microsoft Word document with a guaranteed signature. It is necessary to have previously installed a Word certificate, although its installation can be facilitated, if need be.

Next is an example of how to create and structure a base document, using some of the available design features, through the Microsoft Word editor and the BASE-DOC-EDITO utility following the step-by-step instructions.

Step 1. Choose the editor

As mentioned previously, the first step is to select the editor, in this case it will be the Word option, which is the most recommended for the majority of documents, especially those that contain text and that require values available in the panel.

From the main configuration window of the class of processes, we go to **Model > Base document > Create document > Select base document**, then we will introduce the name value and mark the Word option.

•		×
📑 Base document	s	0
CREATE DOCUMENT		
Name		Proceed
Name	Description of base document	Format
Presentación de facturas	-	PDF (.pdf - Adobe Acr
Riesgo de cliente	-	MS Excel (.xlsx)
Facturas de clientes	Muestra un listado de las facturas emitidas	MS Word (.doc)
	-	MS Word (.doc)
Client invoice	-	MS Word (.doc)

Featured is the name of the base document.

Step 2. Configure the options

As seen previously, there are a series of options that must be configured to create the base document, such as: destination of the automatic document, the language of the selectors, the date and number formats, the output format and optionally, the addition of default data to the name of the resulting file.

Step 3. Configure the Characteristics

As already indicated in this document, depending on the data managed in the class of processes and what is needed in the base document, we can configure the characteristics or design components, to include them and structure them appropriately in the document. In addition to the base document itself, there can be recursive paragraphs, recursive paragraphs with affiliated groups of fields, conditional regions, conditional paragraphs, and the document signature.

Step 4. Structure the Word base document

Once all the design components for the base document are configured and available, they must be located in the base document in their required positions.

MODEL	EXI	ECUTION							
Diagram Version control Simulation Objects		Mode Development environment Maximum number of loop recurrences 1000	•	Base document					*
Base documents Panel Comment logs Generic forms	Base documents Base documents Recursive parage Conditional regis Conditional para	Base documents		Base Doc name Client Invoices Automatic Doc name Client Invoices Description Shows a list of clienT invoices		Format MS Wc Add Object, Last acti	t ford (.doc) t_Reference tion: Sar	▼ • rah Taylor (2021-04-26 14:54)	
	► Signature	Name D Presentación de facturas, 1008 _ Riesgo de cliente _ Facturas de clientes M Client Involves N		Edit with "Base Doc editor" MANUAL EDITING Manual download	0	Automatic document destination	on	Digital signature Language	

Base Document configuration main window. Featured in red is the option to directly edit document, after downloading the Base Doc Editor utility for Microsoft Word.

With the Microsoft Word editor, the open document and the AuraQuantic menu options offered by the Base Doc Editor tool, we will begin to add our components:

File	Home	Insert	Design	Layout	References	Mailings	Review	View	Help	AuraQuantic	AuraQuantic
Save		Select Da	ata Source	🖈 A	dd Conditional F	Region					
Save	and Exit	\equiv Add Rec	ursive Parag	raph 💾 A	Add Break Page						
		😽 Add Cor	nditional Para	agraph [🏅 A	dd Blocked Secti	on					
		Ba	se Document	Editor							
File	Home	Insert	Design	Layout	References	Mailings	Review	View	Help	AuraQuantic	AuraQuantic
Bs	ave	Allocat	te guaranteed	l signature	Connections						
Bs	ave as	🖉 Guarar	nteed signatu	re							
		🖉 Certifie	ed signature								
Documen	ts uploade	r D	igital signatu	re	Connections						

Once the components are created, they can be added to the base document.

Once the components have been added, we will see a structure defined by a series of internal codes and regular text, as can be seen in the image below, where the codes of the design components are visible in the document on the left.



Design view of a base document on the left and on the right the results.

In the image above we have the following components:

- A. **Blocked section**. The user will see this as "read only" in execution.
- B. **Beginning and end of the recursive paragraph of the group of fields.** It delimits the area in which the values in the indicated group of fields will be resolved.
- C. **Start and end of the recursive paragraph of the affiliate group of fields.** It delimits the area in which the values in the affiliated group of fields will be resolved.
- D. **Start and end of the conditional region**. The existing text that is in the area defined between the start and the end will be visible if the condition defined in the region is met.
- E. **Guaranteed signature space**. In this example, there is only one signature, but it is possible to create several, so that one or the other will show, depending on whether the conditions defined in its configuration are met.

In the image below, the panel fields of the group of fields and the affiliate group of fields are added to the base document. The user will input their values in the form when creating the final document.

[GC_Parent Details of the inv	Group of fields_invoice/3_Docur oice	ments English_(LNKv)]	
I_PR_GCA_4917]			
Delivery refere	ence Number of a	articles Price per article	2
[GC_Parent Gro fields_invoice/3 note number]	up of [GC_Parent Gr _Delivery fields_invoice/3_Ac	oup of [GC_Parent Group o quired fields_invoice/3_Tota articles] Amount] US[f I D
F_PR_GCA_4917]			
F_PR_6]			

A Field displayed in a vertical format. B Fields displayed horizontally in a chart.

Step 5. Configure the creator

With the structure of the base document defined, the next step is to configure the objects in the class of processes that will generate the automatic document. The options available are:

- **Button in form**. The button can be executed from a form in a personal task, a start or intermediate message event. The documents will be created when the user clicks the button.
- **System task**. The documents will be created automatically when the current of the process flows through the system task UPLOADER -"Create automatic documents" function.

Button configuration is explained in the document "Action buttons", which describes the configurable actions in action buttons. On the other hand, the configuration of the system task is described in the document "UPLOADER system task", available in the Knowledge base.

Documentos 🕹 🖉	Library	\$ B
E Name	E Name	D
Client Invoices_IM_SPN-102	5.1_70(2021-04-30,1 No element wa	is found
¢	•	×
Total: 1	Base documents	
Process destiny reference	&	
Select a number	Name of base document	_Register Date
•	Presentación de facturas_1008	
Select a language	Riesgo de cliente	
	Facturas de clientes	
	Client Invoices	
Firma r	Total: 6	

Button with the action configured to create base documents in a form.

Step.6 Test and improve

The last step left is to preview the document obtained and make any necessary adjustments. It is important to run as many tests as needed to ensure the desired results. If we consult the library destination of the automatic document, we will see the following:

• •		6
🖙 SAVE START PROCESS DELETE INTEGRATED TASK PRINT		
Documents	Library	\$ <i>0</i>
E Name	E Name	D
Client Invoices_IM_SPN-1025.1_33(2021-04-23,1	No element w	vas found
4		Create automatic
Total: 1	Total: 0	documentation

Library viewer "Documents", which has been used as the integration destination of the generated automatic document. The "Library " viewer seems empty; however, it is the automatic document association destination.

In this example inside of the library in the "Associated" tab, there is a link to the location of the automatic document:

Documents						0
INTEGRATED ASSOCIATED						
Ge ASSOCIATE DOCUMENTS ASSOCIATE LIBRARIES ASSOCIATE OTHER PRINT						
Document/Library name	Linked by	Date	КВ	Signed	L	U
Clientinvoices_IM_SPN-1025.1_35.pdf	🚽 Sarah Taylor	2021-04-23 14:16:20	24	0	olic	×

Creating a document in MS Excel

This base document format is applicable to scenarios where we need to work with certain values in the panel fields, but additionally benefiting from the calculations provided by Microsoft Excel and successively retrieving data from the processes. The latter action is performed by the CONECTOR system task. For more information about this type of system task, consult the Knowledge base.

Documents of this type only admit singular fields located in the process panel where the document is being designed. The allocation of the fields is performed manually by the designer, making use of a specific characteristic that must be added to the internal name: "[PNL_]," this is explained with more detail further down in this document.

The next sections indicates how to structure the base document with the Excel editor, in order to resolve the values, present in the panel of the class of processes.

Configuration of the Excel base document

The first step will be to select the editor which we are going to use in the creation of the base document structure. In this case we must mark the Excel option, that is most adequate for scenarios that require the use of calculations with a certain complexity.

•	Base document	S		0	×
¢	CREATE DOCUMENT				
٢	Name		Proceed		
Name		Description of base document		Format	
Presentac	ión de facturas	-		PDF (.pdf - Adobe Acr	
Riesgo de	e cliente	-		MS Excel (.xlsx)	
Facturas o	de clientes	Muestra un listado de las facturas emitida:	5	MS Word (.doc)	
Client Inv	oices	Shows a list of clien invoices		MS Word (.doc)	
Customer	risk	-		MS Excel (pending)	

Featured is a base document in Excel format.

To create a document in Excel format, from the class of processes configuration panel, open **Base documents** and click the **Create document** button, select the editor, and introduce the name value, the following configuration window will expand:

Base document					0
SAVE DELETE DOWNLOAD COMPLEMENT					
Base Doc name Customer risk Automatic Doc name Customer risk		Format Pending Add Object_Refere	ince	•	
Description		Last action:	Sarah Taylor (2021-04-23 14:45)		
Automatic document destination	Ø Manual download		🖉 Language		
Integrate base document	Ø URL				

Configuration options for creating a base document with Excel,

The options in this image are explained in the section "Base document components" in this document.

After the main options are set in the configuration window, the Excel template requires manual completion of the panel fields to input (Excel must be available on the local computer). For example, if in the panel of the class of processes there is, the internal field: "3_ Name", in the document it must be designated as follows:

Mes	sage form 1	.IM.1	[Informat	ion regard	ding the order]							
	3_Name Name of the	e client	:	Act	ion code							
		Aute	oSave On		?•୯° ₹			Riesg	o de	cliente.xlsx	- Saving -	
	Documents	File	Home	e Insert	Page Layout	Formulas	Data	Rev	iew	View	Help Aur	aQuantic
	EN	Paste	K Cut Copy ≪ Forma	• at Painter	Calibri B I <u>U</u> ∽ E	- 11 - A^ ∃ - <u>◇</u> - <u>/</u>	A [*] Ξ	≡[≡	Ξ	≫~ = = [∰ Wrap Text ∰ Merge & Cent	ter ~ 4
			Clipboard	آيا ا	For	nt	۲ <u>م</u>			Alignme	nt	r⊒
	Total: 0	Q15	Ŧ	: ×	$\checkmark f_x$							
			А		В			С	D	E	F	G
		1 2 3		List of inv	voices issued from	the process re	ference			[PNL_Bas	e Reference].	
		4		Other cha	aracteristics:							
		5								[PNL_3_Na	ime]	
		6						_		[PNL_3_Ac	tion code]	
		7		Register (date:					[PNL_Pre	sent Date and	Timej
		ŏ						-		[PINL_Sta	rt wiessage Cre	atorj

The field "Name of the client" has the code 3_Name, this is the code we place in excel after "PNL"_.

That is, the following notation should be applied:

[PNL_3_Internal-name-of-field]

When the document's design is complete, it must be "integrated manually" using the following button:



Next, we will proceed with the creation of the "Creator" of the automatic document as explained in the corresponding section of this document, which must be a button in a form, or an UPLOADER system task. Finally, we must evaluate the document's final results to make sure everything is working as planned. In the image below, a series of singular and system fields from the panel of the class of processes have been used.

	А	В	С	D	E	F	G
1							
2		List of issued invoices			[PNL_Base	Reference]	
3							
4		Customer characteristics:			[PNL_3_Sele	ctor de idiom	ia]
5					[PNL_3_Sele	ctor de núme	ero]
6							
7		Registration data:			[PNL_Prese	nt Date and T	'ime]
8					[PNL_Start	Message Crea	ator]
9					[PNL_3_Refe	erencia proce	so destino]
10							
11							
12							

Preview of a document structured with Excel.

List of issued invoices	SPN-1025 1 51
	5114 1025.1_51
Customer characteristics:	Language option 4 Option 2
Registration data:	2021-04-26 (08:21) Sarah Taylor
	-12.1_4

Automatic Excel document, where the process values of the fields are complete.

As explained for the Word editor, if the destination libraries of the automatic document is consulted, we will see the following:

Documents	Library	÷ 🖉
E Name	E Name	D
Customer risk_IM_SPN-1025.1_43.pdf	No element was found	
4		
Total: 1	Total: 0	

Library viewer "Documents", which has been used as integration destination of the generated automatic document. The "Library" viewer seems empty; however, it is the automatic document association destination.

Creating a base document in HTML

This section explains how to create and structure a base document, using some of the design features available in the HTML editor integrated in the platform. Options explained here are singular for HTML. The options in common with the creation of a base document in Word will be omitted.

From the main configuration window of the class of processes enter **Model > Base documents > Create document**, introduce the name value and mark the HTML option:

Base docum	nents	0
CREATE DOCUMENT		
Name	Procee	d
Name	Description of base document	Format
Presentación de facturas	-	PDF (.pdf - Adobe Acr
Riesgo de cliente		MS Excel (.xisx)
Facturas de clientes	Muestra un listado de las facturas emitidas	MS Word (.doc)
Client Invoices	Shows a list of clien invoices	MS Word (.doc)
Customer risk	-	MS Excel (.xisx)
Invoice presentation	Invoice presentation	PDF (.pdf - Adobe Acr

Featured is the name of HTML the base document that has been created.

Structuring the base HTML document

After selecting the HTML option for editing the document, the corresponding configuration window opens, In the image below, we can see that there are a series of options that must be configured, such as: destination of the automatic document, the language, margins, output format and if default data will be added to the name of the resulting file.

SAVE DELETE PREVIEW / PRINT DOWNLOAD CON	APLEMENT	
Base Doc name Invoice presentation Automatic Doc name Invoice presentation Description Invoice presentation	Format PDF (.pdf - Adobe Acrobat) MHT (.ds - MS Word) MHT (.ds - MS Excel) MHT (.mht - Generic web) PDF (.pdf - Adobe Acrobat) Last action: Sarah Taylor (2021-04-23 17:17)	
Automatic document destination	⁹ Language	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	77 75 E E E E E 11 14 000 000 17 Spa A - 17 17 000 000 17	

Editing window of the HTML-type base document, with the "Format" option selector displayed. Highlighted in red is the HTML editing area of the document content itself.

The common options between editors have been explained at the beginning of this document. Listed are the specific options:

- A. **HTML format editor**. We can select HTML commands that the system will recognize and implement.
- B. **Format**. This field is to select the output format of the automatically generated document. The options in this case are MHT (Word, Excel or Generic for web), and PDF.
- C. **Margins**. This option is to define in millimeter units the margins that the generated automatic document will present, on its four sides.

	DEXII		
Top margir	1	Inferior margin	
2,5	Millimeter	2,5	Millimeter

Configuration of margins for the HTML base document.

To continue with the configuration we must specify the automatic document destination of the HTML base document.

Automatic document destination

When working with the HTML editor, recursive paragraphs will be the only design characteristic of the base document that we can apply, limited to the information available in the parent group of fields. In the image below we can observe the configuration of the recursive paragraph. This configuration creates a specific notation that must be inserted in the document, in order to indicate the area where the group of fields will be displayed. It is not possible to use recursive affiliated groups of fields paragraphs when using the HTML editor

•			×
E	Recursive paragraph		
¢	SAVE EDIT		
	Name Recursive paragraph for HTML	Description	
	Group of fields Parent Group of fields_invc ×O	Ontainer enabled No Yes	

Recursive paragraph configured and available for the group of fields "Parent group of fields_invoice".

From the HTML editor, we can use the buttons provided to load components into the document:



A Button to upload fields. **B** Button to upload recursive paragraphs.

The "Select data source" window, presents the following options:

	• Select data source	×
	(<u>}</u>	
а —	🖉 Panel	
в —	🖉 Rules Assignment	
c –	🖉 Comment log	

- **A. Panel**. This option is to add any type of panel field to the document (except groups of fields).
- **B. Assignment rules**. Option that allows bringing assignment rules from the panel of the process to the document.
- C. Comment log. Allows the loading of comment log fields in the process panel.

To upload a recursive paragraph to an HTML base document it must be previously configured in its corresponding section and uploaded to the HTML editor. Once the components have been added, as seen in the image below: a structure defined by a series of internal codes and regular text will be visible:

 Puente HTML Q □ X B I U S x_a x^a I_x Encabez Fuente - T 		■ ■ む目目 ● 0 0 0 0 :=== -1 1- == = = =]-: X:= ※
Listado de facturas emitidas del pr [[_PR_2] Nombre del cliente	oceso referencia [PNL_Base Referenc	.e] Número de factura
[GC_Grupo_Campos_Padre_FACTURAS del cliente] [F_PR_2]	5/3_Nombre [GC_Grupo_Campos_Padre_FACTI Cliente]	URAS/3_NIF [GC_Grupp_Campos_Padre_FACTURAS/3_Número de factura]

After the document and its creator (button in a form or system task) have been configured, we must test the results and make any necessary adjustments.

Automatic document

Base documents facilitate the creation of as many automatic documents as necessary. The number and content of documents will depend on their destination and the location of the object that generates the automatic documents.

It is important to point ou,t that when the documents are generated by the UPLOADER system task, the behavior of the action will be similar to that of an action button in a form.

When an automatic document is generated from an action button, its origin can be:

- A form.
- A line extension of a group of fields.
- A line extension of an affiliated group of fields.

The destination of an automatic document, usually in a library type field, can be:

- A form
- A line extension of a group of fields
- A line extension of an affiliated group of fields

The user will be able to generate automatic documents with a click, if a button has been previously configured in the form's design to add automatic documents. As mentioned above the document results can vary in number and content, according to the document destination and the generating object's location. Below are the variations possible in accordance with the destination:

Destination: a singular library term, both general and suffix

Only one document is created. The document can contain general terms, prefixes, suffixes, and groups of fields. If it contains groups of fields, the document will contain all the lines of the group of fields and the lines of the lines of the affiliated group of fields, if available.

Destination: a column of a group of fields

One document will be created per each line of the group of fields. Each document can contain general terms, prefixes, suffixes, and groups of fields. If it contains groups of fields, the document will contain only the information of the line where the document is created. If the line has an affiliated

group of fields, the lines of the affiliated group of fields that correspond to the main line will also be added.

Destination: a column of an affiliated group of fields

One document will be created per each line of the affiliated group of fields. Each document can contain general terms, prefixes, suffixes, and groups of fields. If it contains groups of fields, the document will contain only the information of the line where the document is created. If the line has an affiliated group of fields, the lines of the affiliated group of fields that correspond to the main line will also be added.

Location of base documents in the platform

It is possible to access all the base documents created in the platform, regardless of their extension, by entering the "Connections with external applications" in **Structure > Dictionaries > Connectors** and selecting one of the following options from the drop-down menu of the "Function" field: "Base documents, MS Word, Base documents, MS Excel or Base documents HTML".



Once we have filtered by the desired element, we will be able to access all the elements of that class that have been created on the platform



Base documents

Structure

July 5, 2022

ID: 7929

This publication belongs to the AuraQuantic Training School (ATS) and all rights are reserved. The total or partial reproduction of this document is not allowed, nor its transmission to third parties without written permission by the ATS.

www.auraquantic.com | school@auraquantic.com | Tel: +34 962 954 497 |

International: +1 (857) 239 0070